
EXECUTIVE SERVICES 

TONBRIDGE & MALLING
BOROUGH COUNCIL

Chief Executive
Julie Beilby BSc (Hons) MBA

Gibson Building
Gibson Drive
Kings Hill, West Malling
Kent ME19 4LZ
West Malling (01732) 844522

NB - This agenda contains proposals, 
recommendations and options. These do 
not represent Council policy or decisions 
until they have received proper 
consideration through the full decision 
making process.

Contact: Committee Services
committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk

22 March 2017

To: MEMBERS OF THE AREA 1 PLANNING COMMITTEE
(Copies to all Members of the Council)

Dear Sir/Madam

Your attendance is requested at a meeting of the Area 1 Planning Committee to be held 
in the Riverside Lounge, Angel Centre, Tonbridge on Thursday, 30th March, 2017 
commencing at 7.30 pm. Deposited plans will be available for Members' inspection for 
half an hour before the start of the meeting.

Yours faithfully

JULIE BEILBY

Chief Executive

A G E N D A

PART 1 - PUBLIC

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 

Public Document Pack



3. Minutes 5 - 8

To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of Area 1 Planning 
Committee held on 19 January 2017 

Decisions to be taken by the Committee

4. Development Control 9 - 12

Introduction and Glossary 

5. TM/16/03716/FL - Former Priory Works, Tudeley Lane, 
Tonbridge 

13 - 40

6. TM/17/00139/FL - 49 Brindles Field, Tonbridge 41 - 48

7. Urgent Items 

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special 
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive. 

Matters for consideration in Private

8. Exclusion of Press and Public 

The Chairman to move that the press and public be excluded from the remainder 
of the meeting during consideration of any items the publication of which would 
disclose exempt information. 

PART 2 - PRIVATE

9. Urgent Items 

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special 
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive. 



MEMBERSHIP

Cllr R D Lancaster (Chairman)
Cllr V M C Branson (Vice-Chairman)

Cllr Mrs J A Anderson
Cllr O C Baldock
Cllr Mrs P A Bates
Cllr P F Bolt
Cllr J L Botten
Cllr D J Cure
Cllr M O Davis
Cllr T Edmondston-Low
Cllr B T M Elks

Cllr Mrs M F Heslop
Cllr N J Heslop
Cllr M R Rhodes
Cllr H S Rogers
Cllr Miss J L Sergison
Cllr C P Smith
Cllr Ms S V Spence
Cllr Miss G E Thomas
Cllr F G Tombolis



This page is intentionally left blank



AP 1

TONBRIDGE AND MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL

AREA 1 PLANNING COMMITTEE

Thursday, 19th January, 2017

Present: Cllr R D Lancaster (Chairman), Cllr V M C Branson (Vice-Chairman), 
Cllr Mrs J A Anderson, Cllr O C Baldock, Cllr Mrs P A Bates, 
Cllr   F Bolt, Cllr J L Botten, Cllr D J Cure, Cllr M O Davis, 
Cllr T Edmondston-Low, Cllr B T M Elks, Cllr M R Rhodes, 
Cllr Miss J L Sergison, Cllr C P Smith, Cllr Ms S V Spence and 
Cllr F G Tombolis

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors 
Mrs M F Heslop, N J Heslop and Miss G E Thomas

PART 1 - PUBLIC

AP1 17/1   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest in accordance with the Code of 
Conduct.

AP1 17/2   MINUTES 

RESOLVED:  That the Minutes of the meeting of the Area 1 Planning 
Committee held on 1 December 2016 be approved as a correct record 
and signed by the Chairman.

DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED POWERS IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH PARAGRAPH 3, PART 3 OF THE 
CONSTITUTION

AP1 17/3   DEVELOPMENT CONTROL 

Decisions were taken on the following applications subject to the pre-
requisites, informatives, conditions or reasons for refusal set out in the 
report of the Director of Planning, Housing and Environmental Health or 
in the variations indicated below.  Any supplementary reports were 
tabled at the meeting. 

Members of the public addressed the meeting where the required notice 
had been given and their comments were taken into account by the 
Committee when determining the application.  Speakers are listed under 
the relevant planning application shown below.  

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



AREA 1 PLANNING COMMITTEE 19 January 2017

AP 2

AP1 17/4   TM/15/03345/FL - RAPHAEL MEDICAL CENTRE, COLDHARBOUR 
LANE, HILDENBOROUGH 

Demolition of former school buildings (part of which are occupied by the 
Raphael Medical Centre for Class C2 care use and part of which are 
vacant) and redevelopment with a two storey building and basement to 
provide a 28 bedroom specialist care facility with landscaping and car 
parking at Raphael Medical Centre, Coldharbour Lane, Hildenborough. 

The Chairman referred to the need for the applicant to advance a robust 
case of ‘very special circumstances’ to demonstrate a clearly evidenced 
case of need for the proposed new facility.  Unfortunately, little additional 
information had been forthcoming and it was now necessary to 
determine the application based on the material submitted.   The report 
of the Director of Planning, Housing and Environmental Health 
concluded that the proposal constituted inappropriate development 
within the Green Belt and that ‘very special circumstances’ had not been 
sufficiently advanced to support actual need.

RESOLVED: That planning permission be REFUSED for the following 
reasons:

(1) The site lies within the Metropolitan Green Belt where there is a 
strong presumption against permitting inappropriate development, 
as defined in paragraphs 89 and 90 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework 2012. The proposed development comprises 
inappropriate development which is by definition harmful to the 
Metropolitan Green Belt. In addition, the materially larger scale of 
the proposed building (in terms of its increased height, floorspace 
and footprint) would cause substantial harm to the open 
characteristics of the site and the openness of the Green Belt in 
this location. No very special circumstances exist which would be 
sufficient to outweigh the degree of harm caused to the 
Metropolitan Green Belt. As such, the proposed development is 
contrary to the requirements of Section 9 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework 2012 and Policy CP3 of the Tonbridge and 
Malling Borough Core Strategy 2007.

(2) The site lies in open countryside, outside the rural settlement 
confines of Hildenborough where Tonbridge and Malling Borough 
Core Strategy 2007 Policy CP14 seeks to restrict new 
development to a limited number of instances. The proposed 
development does not meet any of these defined exceptions and 
therefore represents an inappropriate form of major development 
in the countryside, contrary to the requirements of this policy. 
There are no overriding material planning considerations which 
indicate that the provisions of Tonbridge and Malling Borough 
Core Strategy 2007 Policy CP14 should be set aside in this 
instance. 

Page 6



AREA 1 PLANNING COMMITTEE 19 January 2017

AP 3

[Speakers: Rev Woodley-Jones – Hildenborough Parish Council; 
Mr P Osborne, Mr C Stimpson, Mr A Stephens and Mrs M Carlile – 
members of the public and Mr N Pople – on behalf of the applicant]

AP1 17/5   TM/16/02987/0A - LAND ADJOINING 11 URIDGE CRESCENT, 
TONBRIDGE 

Outline Application: Detached 3 bedroom dwelling house (all matters 
reserved) at land adjoining 11 Uridge Crescent, Tonbridge.

RESOLVED:  That outlined planning permission be GRANTED in 
accordance with the submitted details, conditions, reasons and 
informatives set out in the report of the Director of Planning, Housing 
and Environmental Health.

AP1 17/6   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

There were no items considered in private.

The meeting ended at 8.20 pm

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



1

TONBRIDGE & MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL

AREA PLANNING COMMITTEES

Report of the Director of Planning, Housing & Environmental Health

Part I – Public

Section A – For Decision

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL
In accordance with the Local Government Access to Information Act 1985 and the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended), copies of background papers, including 
representations in respect of applications to be determined at the meeting, are available 
for inspection at Planning Services, Gibson Building, Gibson Drive, Kings Hill from 08.30 
hrs until 17.00 hrs on the five working days which precede the date of this meeting.

Members are invited to inspect the full text of representations received prior to the 
commencement of the meeting.

Local residents’ consultations and responses are set out in an abbreviated format 
meaning: (number of letters despatched/number raising no objection (X)/raising objection 
(R)/in support (S)).

All applications may be determined by this Committee unless (a) the decision would be in 
fundamental conflict with the plans and strategies which together comprise the 
Development Plan; or (b) in order to comply with Rule 15.24 of the Council and Committee 
Procedure Rules.

GLOSSARY of Abbreviations and Application types 

used in reports to Area Planning Committees as at 23 September 2015

AAP Area of Archaeological Potential
AODN Above Ordnance Datum, Newlyn
AONB Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty
APC1 Area 1 Planning Committee 
APC2 Area 2 Planning Committee 
APC3 Area 3 Planning Committee 
ASC Area of Special Character
BPN Building Preservation Notice
BRE Building Research Establishment
CA Conservation Area
CPRE Council for the Protection of Rural England
DEFRA Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



2

DETR Department of the Environment, Transport & the Regions
DCLG Department for Communities and Local Government
DCMS Department for Culture, the Media and Sport 
DLADPD Development Land Allocations Development Plan Document 
DMPO Development Management Procedure Order
DPD Development Plan Document 
DPHEH Director of Planning, Housing & Environmental Health
DSSL Director of Street Scene & Leisure
EA Environment Agency
EH English Heritage
EMCG East Malling Conservation Group
FRA Flood Risk Assessment
GDPO Town & Country Planning (General Development Procedure) 

Order 2015
GPDO Town & Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 

Order 2015
HA Highways Agency
HSE Health and Safety Executive
HMU Highways Management Unit
KCC Kent County Council
KCCVPS Kent County Council Vehicle Parking Standards
KDD Kent Design (KCC)  (a document dealing with housing/road 

design)
KWT Kent Wildlife Trust
LB Listed Building (Grade I, II* or II)
LDF Local Development Framework
LLFA Lead Local Flood Authority
LMIDB Lower Medway Internal Drainage Board
LPA Local Planning Authority
LWS Local Wildlife Site
MAFF Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food
MBC Maidstone Borough Council
MC Medway Council (Medway Towns Unitary Authority)
MCA Mineral Consultation Area
MDEDPD Managing Development and the Environment Development 

Plan Document
MGB Metropolitan Green Belt
MKWC Mid Kent Water Company
MWLP Minerals & Waste Local Plan
NE Natural England
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
PC Parish Council
PD Permitted Development
POS Public Open Space
PPG Planning Policy Guidance 
PROW Public Right Of Way

Page 10



3

SDC Sevenoaks District Council
SEW South East Water
SFRA Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (prepared as background to 

the LDF)
SNCI Site of Nature Conservation Interest
SPAB Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings
SPD Supplementary Planning Document (a statutory policy 

document supplementary to the LDF)
SPN Form of Statutory Public Notice
SSSI Site of Special Scientific Interest
SWS Southern Water Services
TC Town Council
TCAAP Tonbridge Town Centre Area Action Plan
TCS Tonbridge Civic Society
TMBC Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council
TMBCS Tonbridge & Malling Borough Core Strategy (part of the Local 

Development Framework)
TMBLP Tonbridge & Malling Borough Local Plan
TWBC Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
UCO Town and Country Planning Use Classes Order 1987 (as 

amended)
UMIDB Upper Medway Internal Drainage Board
WLP Waste Local Plan (KCC)

AGPN/AGN Prior Notification: Agriculture
AT Advertisement
CA Conservation Area Consent (determined by Secretary 

of State if made by KCC or TMBC)
CAX Conservation Area Consent:  Extension of Time
CNA Consultation by Neighbouring Authority
CR3 County Regulation 3 (KCC determined)
CR4 County Regulation 4
DEPN Prior Notification: Demolition
DR3 District Regulation 3
DR4 District Regulation 4
EL Electricity
ELB Ecclesiastical Exemption Consultation (Listed Building)
ELEX Overhead Lines (Exemptions)
FC Felling Licence
FL Full Application
FLX Full Application:  Extension of Time
FLEA Full Application with Environmental Assessment
FOPN Prior Notification: Forestry
GOV Consultation on Government Development
HN Hedgerow Removal Notice
HSC Hazardous Substances Consent

Page 11



4

LB Listed Building Consent (determined by Secretary of State if 
made by KCC or TMBC)

LBX Listed Building Consent:  Extension of Time
LCA Land Compensation Act - Certificate of Appropriate 

Alternative Development
LDE Lawful Development Certificate: Existing Use or Development
LDP Lawful Development Certificate: Proposed Use or 

Development
LRD Listed Building Consent Reserved Details
MIN Mineral Planning Application (KCC determined)
NMA Non Material Amendment
OA Outline Application
OAEA Outline Application with Environment Assessment
OAX Outline Application:  Extension of Time
RD Reserved Details
RM Reserved Matters (redefined by Regulation from August 

2006)
TEPN56/TEN Prior Notification: Telecoms
TNCA Notification: Trees in Conservation Areas
TPOC Trees subject to TPO
TRD Tree Consent Reserved Details
TWA Transport & Works Act 1992 (determined by Secretary of 

State)
WAS Waste Disposal Planning Application (KCC determined)
WG Woodland Grant Scheme Application

Page 12



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

Tonbridge
Medway

29 December 2016 TM/16/03716/FL

Proposal: A hybrid planning application comprising 1) application for 
outline planning permission for a permanent primary school 
including means of access from Tudeley Lane (all other 
matters reserved) 2) application for full planning permission for 
the installation of 1no temporary building to provide 2 form 
entry primary school, 1no administration block, hard standing 
including car parking, drop off / pick up, and erection of 
boundary fence

Location: Former Priory Works Tudeley Lane Tonbridge Kent TN11 0QL  
Applicant: The Education Funding Agency
Go to: Recommendation

1. Description:

1.1 This application has been submitted in ‘hybrid’ form, with outline permission being 
sought for a permanent 2 Form Entry (2FE) Primary School including means of 
access from Tudeley Lane (with all other matters reserved for future 
consideration). In addition, full planning permission is being sought for the 
installation of temporary school buildings, hard standings, car parking, drop off and 
pick-up areas and the erection of site boundary fencing. 

1.2 By way of background, Bishop Chavasse School will be a Church of England 2FE 
primary school located in and serving South Tonbridge. It will be part of the Tenax 
School Trust also comprising Bennett Memorial Diocesan School, located in 
Tunbridge Wells. Bennett Memorial School will be the sponsor of the new school 
and provide capacity and support for its development. St. Stephen’s Church 
(Tonbridge) will be the associated Church that will work closely with the school to 
support the Christian ethos. 

1.3 The 2FE primary school will be a mainstream school catering for pupils aged 4-11 
with a maximum pupil capacity of 420 pupils. It is intended that the primary school 
would open in temporary accommodation in September 2017 with 60 pupils (2x 
Reception intakes) before moving into permanent accommodation in September 
2018 with 120 pupils. Pupil numbers would then build-up year by year until full 
capacity is reached in 2023. 

1.4 The temporary and permanent school accommodation will be located on the same 
site. The temporary accommodation comprises a double Reception classroom 
teaching space (for 60 pupils) and an administrative building for an anticipated 15 
staff, both comprising of temporary/modular buildings. The phase 1 temporary 
works includes a drop off/pick up area and 7 car parking spaces for staff and 
visitors. The phase 2 permanent school car parking details would be submitted as 
part of the subsequent “Reserved Matters” although at this stage confirmation is 
provided that a car park of approximately 74 spaces would be provided within the 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

site – this is currently understood to comprise of the main school car park (60 
spaces), a pupil drop off/pick up area (4 spaces) and some flexible overflow car 
parking provision (10 spaces). It is also stated that as part of the reserved matters 
planning application for the full school build-out, the developer will apply for a 
Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) to install parking management measures (such as 
‘School Keep Clear’ and/or yellow lining) on Tudeley Lane in proximity to the 
shared access with the school and new housing estate.

1.5 The submitted documents indicate that the permanent school would be two 
storeys in height with an indicative floorspace of up to 2,072 sq. m. This design is 
in accordance with the EFA’s specification for new primary schools. The 
permanent school building is shown to be located generally towards the western 
boundary of the site, with the northern part of the site be laid out with a 
combination of hard landscape (for playground and multi-use games areas) and 
soft landscape (playing fields, habitat margins and tree/shrub planting). 

1.6 The application documents state that the primary school is proposed to be open 
between the hours of 07:30 and 18:00. This includes breakfast clubs prior to the 
start of the school day and a variety of after-school clubs. 

1.7 Once the permanent school development is completed/becomes operational, it is 
intended that the temporary accommodation would be removed from the site.  

2. Reason for reporting to Committee:

2.1 Locally significant development and Departure from the Development Plan. 

3. The Site:

3.1 The site has an area of approximately 1.1 hectares and is located on the south-
eastern tip of Tonbridge, within the urban confines. It comprises commercial land 
which currently has the benefit of outline planning consent (TM/13/02307/FL) for 
B1 and/or B8 uses. That extant consent, with all matters reserved except for 
access, includes a minimum footprint area of commercial buildings of 3,820 sq. 
metres and a maximum height of 13 metres. This forms part of a hybrid planning 
application on the site known as Priory Works where the residential development 
aspect is currently being built-out by Redrow Homes (Somerhill Green 
development).

3.2 The site is designated as safeguarded employment land by virtue of policies E1(k) 
and E3(m) of the DLA DPD. All buildings associated with the historic industrial use 
of the site have long since been demolished. 

3.3 Part of the site lies within Flood Zones 2 and 3a, with the Somerhill Stream broadly 
defining the eastern boundary of the site. This stream also forms the Borough 
boundary with Tunbridge Wells BC. 

Page 14



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

3.4 The application site is accessed via Tudeley Lane which runs along the southern 
perimeter of the site. The land to the east of the site (within TWBC) is occupied by 
Mini and Porsche car dealerships with associated surface parking. 

3.5 The boundary of the High Weald AONB runs to the south of the site (south of 
Tudeley Lane and Five Oak Green Road). 

4. Planning History (most relevant):

 
TM/13/02307/FL Approved 30 January 2014

Hybrid Application: Development of Priory Works involving (A) Detailed 
Permission for the erection of two and 2 and a half storey houses and three and 
three and a half storey buildings of apartments comprising a total of 183 units 
with associated access roads, parking, landscaping and provision of open space 
and (B) Outline Permission with all matters reserved except for access for the 
development of part of the site for B1 and/or B8 use comprising a minimum 
footprint area of buildings of 3820 square metres and a maximum height of 
buildings of 13m

 
5. Consultees:

5.1 TWBC (neighbouring Authority): No objections. 

5.2 KCC (H+T): I am grateful for the meetings that have been held with interested 
parties. I now appreciate the local engagement that has been undertaken and I am 
grateful for receipt of the Caneparo Associates Report (Ref: NO3-CC-Additional 
Information 170309) which outlines the consultations and research that has been 
undertaken and which substantiates the forecast uptake of before and after-school 
activities. 

5.2.1 For further confidence regarding potential car parking accumulations I am also 
grateful for confirmation that, for the full school, use of the playground may prove 
necessary for overflow parking, during school pick up and drop off times, would be 
acceptable. This report helpfully confirms:

- That all car parking areas will be managed by staff;

- Commitment to an active travel plan continuously reviewed and monitored via 
the County Council on line ‘Jambusters’ tool; and

- Implementation of traffic management measures outside the school and at the 
approach to the Woodgate Way roundabout. The drawings at Appendix C are 
particularly helpful in this regard.

5.2.2 In view of the above additional information I would consider that a commitment to 
a 2FE Primary School through the full application element of this hybrid application 
would be acceptable. 

Page 15



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

5.2.3 With regard to the outline planning application for a permanent school this should 
be subject to a subsequent reserved matters application requiring at least 77 car 
parking spaces to be available. The reserved matters application will need to 
include an initial school travel plan. I understand that new transport analysis will 
also be provided covering not least, modal distributions/profiles, school catchment 
and any details regarding admissions policy(s), swept path analysis for servicing, 
school parking and drop off arrangements proposed in the detailed design. 

5.2.4 Recommends conditions to cover the following aspects – provision of construction 
vehicle parking, prevention of mud and debris on the public highway, retention of 
on-site vehicle parking and turning spaces, bound surfacing adjacent to the main 
highway, provision and retention of cycle parking and entrance gates being set 
back from the edge of the main highway. 

5.3 Highways England: Having examined the application, we are satisfied that on the 
basis of the information supplied and by virtue of the nature of the proposals, trips 
generated will be of a level and distribution that will not materially affect the safety 
and/or operation of the SRN. Therefore we do not offer any objections or 
requirements relating to the proposal. 

5.4 EA: We have no objection to this proposal based on the additional information 
provided, and offer the following comments:

5.4.1 The Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) by Robert West (ref 5613/001/R01B dated 
February 2016) provides updated hydraulic modelling for the site in question. They 
have considered updated Climate change allowances (35% and 70%) into the 
modelling to ensure no internal flooding will occur. The detailed modelling results 
affect various aspects of the building’s design; the design flood level identified by 
the modelling, will determine the required Finished Floor Level’s (FFLs) to prevent 
internal flooding. 

5.4.2 Appendix E of the FRA gives the extreme flood level (100 year 70% CC) across 
the site. As a result the applicant has stated that FFLs are to be set at 27.95m 
AOD for the permanent facility (which provides a minimum of 600mm (as per 
NPPF guidance) freeboard above the design flood level. FFLs are to be set at 
27.93m AOD for the temporary building (which provides a minimum of 300mm (as 
per NPPF guidance). The finished floor levels stated in the FRA would be 
acceptable for both the temporary and permanent facilities, therefore internal 
flooding would be low risk.

5.4.3 However the design and access and egress for the permanent building does not 
demonstrate that it is above the flood level. You will need to be satisfied that they 
can manage safe evacuation, given the site entrance occupies the most 
vulnerable area of the site. Please note that we are also unable to offer a flood 
warning service for this watercourse which must be considered in the final 
decision. 

Page 16



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

5.4.4 We also consider that you consider this application alongside the previously 
consented Redrow housing development at Priory Works, and in the context of 
current application proposals for a new Jaguar/Land Rover dealership 
(TM/16/03530/FL). The implementation of this car showroom will likely result in a 
loss of storage and the displacement of flood water, causing an increase in flood 
levels to those residential houses and an increased flood level for the proposed 
school site. 

5.4.5 The proposed development will be acceptable if a planning condition is included 
requiring a scheme to be agreed to protect an 8 metre wide buffer zone around the 
Somerhill Stream (also known as the Southborough Stream).

5.4.6 Condition: No development shall take place until a scheme for the provision and 
management of an 8 metre wider buffer zone alongside the Somerhill Stream shall 
be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter 
the development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme and 
any subsequent amendments shall be agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority. The buffer zone scheme shall be free from built development including 
lighting, domestic gardens and formal landscaping; and could form a vital part of 
green infrastructure provision. The scheme shall include:

- plans showing the extent and layout of the buffer zone;

- details of any proposed planting scheme (for example, native species);

- details demonstrating how the buffer zone will be protected during 
development and managed/maintained over the longer-term including 
adequate financial provision and named body responsible for management 
plus production of detailed management plan; and

- details of any proposed footpaths, fencing, lighting or other impacts within the 
buffer zone.

Reasons: To protect the ecological value of the river corridor and in accordance 
with the requirements of the NPPF.

5.4.7 Development that encroaches on watercourses has a potentially severe impact on 
their ecological value. Artificial lighting disrupts the natural diurnal rhythms of a 
range of wildlife using and inhabiting the river and its corridor habitat. Hard 
substrate and unsuitable or non-native planting can impact on bankside flora, 
aquatic and semi-aquatic fauna.

5.4.8 Land alongside watercourses is particular valuable for wildlife and it is essential 
this is protected.

5.4.9 This condition is supported by the NPPF paragraph 109 which recognises that the 
planning system should aim to conserve and enhance the natural and local 

Page 17



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

environment by minimising impacts on biodiversity and providing net gains in 
biodiversity where possible, contribution to the Government’s commitment to halt 
the overall decline in biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological 
networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures. The Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act which requires Local Authorities to have 
regard to nature conservation and Article 10 of the Habitats Directive which 
stresses the importance of natural networks of linked corridors to allow movement 
of specifies between suitable habitats, and promote the expansion of biodiversity. 

5.4.10 Paragraph 118 of the NPPF also states that opportunities to incorporate 
biodiversity in and around developments should be encouraged. Such networks 
may also help wildlife adapt to climate change and will help restore watercourses 
to a more natural state as required by the Thames River Basin Management Plan.

5.5 KCC (LLFA): Final views awaited based on additional information provided by the 
applicant in respect of proposed sustainable site drainage scheme [DPHEH: I shall 
update Members further on any additional views received within a Supplementary 
Report].

5.6 NE: Notes that the application is within 500m of the High Weald AONB. We note 
that the AONB Unit has submitted comments, and we defer to their knowledge of 
the area and the AONB Management Plan. Therefore, Natural England has no 
comments to make on this application. NE has not assessed the application for 
impacts on protected specifies and refers the LPA to its Standing Advice in this 
respect. 

5.7 AONB Unit: Notes that the EA has raised no objection but recommend that the 
flood risk be looked at cumulatively with the housing development to the west and 
to the site to the south currently being proposed for the Jaguar/Land Rover 
dealership. I also note the EA’s views that the access to the school site could be 
affected by flooding requiring evacuation plans for the school, and that the 
responsibility for flood prevention has now been passed to KCC (LLFA). I reiterate 
my support for the EA’s comments on the need to retain land alongside the stream 
as a wildlife habitat and the use of native species in any new planting. 

5.8 KCC (PROW): Notes that PROW MU39/WT405 runs along the southern boundary 
of the application site and should not be affected by the application. Also notes 
that no works on the PROW can be undertaken without the express consent of the 
Highway Authority. 

5.9 Sport England: Satisfied that the proposals do not fall within our statutory or non-
statutory remit and therefore has not provided a detailed response. 

5.10 Kent Police (Crime Prevention Design Advisor): Notes that the permanent school 
proposals must be designed to take account of the principles and physical security 
requirements of Crime Prevention through Environmental Design (CPTED) and 

Page 18



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

recommend the imposition of a condition on any subsequent Reserved Matters 
application accordingly.  

5.11 Southern Water: Should the LPA be minded to approve the application, 
recommend the imposition of a condition covering a suitable site drainage strategy 
detailing the proposed means of foul disposal and an implementation timetable. 

5.12 Private Reps: 21 + site + press notice/0X/2R/7S. The representations received can 
be summarised as follows:

Support:

 This primary school is vital to the future of Tonbridge. For too long we have 
seen children travelling distances to obtain an education which is vital not only 
to the individual but also to the town as a whole. The ethos behind the school 
and its backer are outstanding;

 The site is perfect – easy access for drop off by car, and close walking 
distances for families where there is a need for this school;

 Over the last 2-3 years the development in Tonbridge has been admirable, 
with significant regeneration of the Town Centre and increased housing around 
Waitrose and along the River Medway. This has increased the pressure on 
public services, in particular schools which now have significantly reduced 
catchment areas. A new school is therefore highly welcomed; and

 Notes that the proposed Bishop Chavasse Primary School is actually a year 
behind schedule due to the struggle to secure land for the site – support the 
swift development of this much needed facility.

Objection:

 Serious consideration needs to be made to the parking and daily access – with 
the proposed Jaguar/Land Rover dealership and completion of new Redrow 
Homes at Somerhill Green there will be a lot of pressure on Tudeley Lane. As it 
is a narrow winding road, precautions need to be made these are not blocked 
by parked cars or delivery lorries;

 Considers that the painting of yellow lines outside the school entrance to be a 
waste of paint – you only have to visit one of the nearby schools at drop off and 
collection time to see that they are totally ignored. Instead, what is needed is to 
ensure that there are decent alternatives – in this case a good footpath link to 
the west; and

 The current footpath from Somerhill Green to Lodge Oak Lane is due for an 
upgrade (money secured as part of the Priory Works development) but it is not 
possible to widen it sufficiently to accommodate passing push chairs, for 

Page 19



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

example. The solution is a connection to Farm Ground Close and Gorham 
Drive which will then connect the school to the larger residential area, the bus 
routes and the local shop. This must be put in place before the school opens. 

6. Determining Issues:

6.1 Members will note that this is a hybrid application where detailed planning 
permission is being sought for the siting of temporary buildings (and other 
associated works such as temporary car parking, hard landscaping and perimeter 
fencing) and outline permission is sought for the development of a permanent 
school. In the case of the outline application, excluding the means of access, all 
other matters – those being Appearance, Scale, Layout and Landscaping of the 
permanent school development – are Reserved Matters which will be subject to 
further detailed consideration at a later stage. 

Principle of development:

6.2 The site is safeguarded for employment purposes by Policies E1 (k) and E3 (m) of 
the DLA DPD. These policies state that except where otherwise specified, 
proposals for non-employment uses i.e. uses other than Business Use (B1), 
General Industrial Use (B2), or Storage and Distribution Uses (B8), will not be 
permitted. The application proposes that the site will be used as a primary school 
(D1 use) and therefore these proposals represent a Departure from the adopted 
Development Plan. 

6.3 It is important to remember that the Council, in its role as Local Planning Authority, 
is required to determine planning applications in accordance with the Development 
Plan in force unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

6.4 Paragraph 22 of the NPPF, an important material consideration, advises that 
“planning policies should avoid the long term protection of sites allocated for 
employment use where there is no reasonable prospect of a site being used for 
that purpose. […] Where there is no reasonable prospect of a site being used for 
the allocated employment use, applications for alternative uses of land or buildings 
should be treated on their merits having regard to market signals and the relative 
need for different land uses to support sustainable local communities.”

6.5 With this in mind, the applicant has submitted a Site Sequential Assessment report 
which provides an overview of the site selection criteria undertaken by the 
applicant, together with a case demonstrating the educational need for a new 2FE 
primary school in South Tonbridge. In terms of the educational need for a new 2FE 
primary school the applicant has advanced the following information:

 The birth rate for Tonbridge & Malling is broadly in line with Kent and National 
statistics. Whilst these have fluctuated, the trend over the last 5 years is 
slightly upward. However, the number of births per year has significant 
increased over the last decade;

Page 20



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

 Demographic pressures have arisen from sustained indigenous population 
growth, migration factors and the housing developments in central Tonbridge, 
Kings Hill and Leybourne Chase;

 Tonbridge has high targets for the delivery of new homes (associated with the 
progression of a new Local Plan). Furthermore, it is on a fast rail link to London 
and so attracts large numbers of commuter families. Accommodation costs are 
advantageous for young families in comparison with location closer to or in 
London and other nearby towns, such as Tonbridge Wells;

 Tonbridge, as defined by the postcode area TN9 does not have a C of E 
primary school. There is similarly no C of E primary school in the adjoining 
postcode TN10. There are 7 primary schools located in these two areas, which 
together comprise central Tonbridge. The proposed Bishop Chavasse Primary 
School will be a C of E school with a designated C of E character and serving 
the local community. Most places (75%) will be allocated on non-faith criteria. It 
will thus increase the range of choice for parents in the area; and

 The KCC ‘Commissioning Plan for Education Provision in Kent 2017-2021’ 
recognises that this proposed 2FE Primary School will meet the demand for 
places in central Tonbridge when it opens in September 2017. This school was 
originally due to open in 2016 but was delayed due to not being able to identify 
a suitable site. Consequently, other local primary schools had to meet the 
forecast deficit of up to 60 Reception year places up until September 2017.     

6.6 In determining the total land-take required for a new school, reference is made to 
the Department for Education’s Building Bulletin 103 (Area Guidelines for 
Mainstream Schools). This sets out that a 2FE primary school (with 420 pupils) 
requires a minimum building area of 2,072 sq. metres and a minimum site area of 
0.76 ha. It was on the basis of these minimum requirements that the applicant 
undertook a sequential site analysis to find a suitable site. 

6.7 The proposed broad pupil catchment area for the new school is TN9 which broadly 
represents the urban area of South Tonbridge. This catchment will enable the 
school to meet the needs within Tonbridge, where it is aimed at enhancing the 
level of demand for school places and make it accessible to many families from a 
variety of backgrounds. Whilst the school would also draw from the rural area 
surrounding Tonbridge, I understand that the applicant’s site search has focussed 
on the urban area as this was considered the most suitable location for the new 
school. 

6.8 The applicant’s sequential site assessment identified a total of 19 sites within the 
defined catchment area which met or exceed the minimum building and site area 
required for a 2FE primary school. These 19 sites were then assessed against 
appropriate criteria including, inter alia, current land uses, neighbouring land uses, 
site constraints, ownership/availability, planning risk and overall suitability. The 

Page 21



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

assessment identifies that only the application site – the land at the former Priory 
Works site – is the only suitable and immediately available site which is capable of 
accommodating the proposed new 2FE primary school and meeting the 
educational needs of the catchment population.

6.9 Having reviewed this sequential site assessment I am satisfied that it is sufficiently 
comprehensive and robust in its conclusions that there are no other suitable sites 
(other than the application site) within the catchment area. This conclusion was not 
dissimilar from the general lack of suitable sites identified within a recent search 
for a new suitable school site for Ridgeview Primary School; in that case the lack 
of suitable sites led to the development of a new school outside of the urban area 
of Tonbridge, within the Metropolitan Green Belt. 

6.10 On the basis of the information before me, including KCC’s Commissioning Plan 
for Education (2017-2021), I am entirely satisfied that that there is an acute 
education need for a new 2FE primary school within this part of South Tonbridge. 
These conclusions in respect of a lack of suitable sites and the acute educational 
need for a new school are, in my view, important material considerations in the 
determination of this application. 

6.11 It is also necessary to consider whether there is a reasonable prospect of the site 
being used for its allocated employment use in the context of the advice contained 
in paragraph 22 of the NPPF. In this respect, the site benefits from an extant 
outline permission (with all matters reserved) for B1 and/or B8 use comprising a 
minimum footprint area of buildings of 3820 sq. metres and a maximum height of 
buildings of 13m. That permission was granted in January 2014, and whilst the 
residential aspect of the hybrid permission is well underway in the process of 
being built-out, no Reserved Matters application for the commercial aspect has 
come forward in the intervening period. Whilst I understand that the site has been 
marketed for commercial purposes in accordance with the outline permission, 
market signals indicate that there is no reasonable prospect of the site being built 
out for B1 and/or B8 uses – something which is backed up by no firm approaches 
being made to the LPA by interested parties since the permission was granted.  

6.12 Whilst I accept that the school development does not propose a typical 
employment type use (i.e. a B1, B2 or B8 use), it does nonetheless result in 
employment opportunities for approximately 50 staff (including full time and part-
time positions) once the full 2FE entry school is filled. The development of this 
safeguarded employment land as a school will therefore deliver a good number of 
jobs, including both full time and part time positions across a range of levels. 

6.13 I am also mindful that the advice set out in paragraph 72 of the NPPF which states 
that “the Government attaches great importance to ensuring that a sufficient 
choice of school places is available to meet the needs of existing and new 
communities. Local Planning Authorities should take a proactive, positive and 
collaborative approach to meeting this requirement, and to development that will 

Page 22



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

widen choice in education. They should: give great weight to the need to create, 
expand or alter schools; and work with schools promoters to identify and resolve 
key planning issues before applications are submitted.” Furthermore, the 
Government’s Policy Statement – Planning for Schools Development (August 
2011) gives strong support to school proposals, emphasising that there should be 
a presumption in favour of the development of schools and that LPA’s should 
make full use of their planning powers to support state-funded school applications. 
These are, of course, important material considerations to take into consideration 
in the determination of this departure application. 

6.14 To conclude on this matter, I am satisfied that there are overriding material 
considerations which weigh heavily in favour of the development of the new school 
on this safeguarded employment land. I consider that there appears to be no 
reasonable prospect of the extant commercial development coming forward and, 
when considering the emphasis the NPPF places on not seeking to protect such 
allocations in the long term, the evidence put forward by the applicant in terms of 
sequential site assessment and educational need, and the strong Government 
support for new state-funded schools, I do not consider there to be any justification 
to resist the principle of the proposed hybrid primary school development in this 
instance. 

Location, design and character considerations:

6.15 The core planning principles of the NPPF (paragraph 17) states that planning 
should encourage the effective use of land by reusing land that has been 
previously developed (brownfield land), provided that it is not of high 
environmental value. This is generally supported by TMBCS Policy CP1 which 
states that development should be concentrated at the highest density compatible 
with the local built and natural environment mainly on previously developed land 
and served by sustainable modes of transport. Furthermore, TMBCS Policy CP11 
states that new development should be concentrated within the urban confines of 
Tonbridge. This site is clearly previously developed land – which comprised a 
series of industrial buildings until around 2012 when the site was cleared pending 
redevelopment. It is also well-related to the urban confines of South Tonbridge, 
including the new housing currently under construction by Redrow Homes at 
Somerhill Green. 

6.16 Another of the core principles contained within the NPPF centres on the need to 
always seek high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all existing 
and future occupants of land and buildings. Paragraph 58 of the NPPF states that 
planning decisions should aim to ensure that developments respond to local 
character and history and reflects the identity of local surroundings and materials, 
while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation. Similarly, TMBCS 
Policy CP24 sets out the general criteria for all new development including a 
provision that development must respect the site and its surroundings and that it 
will not be permitted where it would be detrimental to the built environment and 

Page 23



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

amenity of a locality. This is supported by MDE DPD Policy SQ1 which states that 
all new development proposals should protect, conserved and where possible 
enhance:

 the character and local distinctiveness of the area including any historical and 
architectural interest and the prevailing level of tranquillity; and

 the distinctive setting of and relationship between, the pattern of settlement, 
roads and the landscape, urban form and important views. 

6.17 The proposals represent a hybrid form of development with full planning 
permission being sought for the development of a temporary school and outline 
permission for a permanent 2FE school. The temporary works comprise two 
mobile buildings (comprising 2x Reception classrooms, toilets and 
staff/administrative space) situated towards the southern end of the site near to 
the main entrance, finished externally in a light grey colour. Other works 
associated with the temporary school include a 7 space staff and visitor car park, a 
drop off/pick up area, external hard and soft landscaping works and site perimeter 
fencing. The temporary mobile classroom buildings are anticipated to be on site 
from September 2017 until September 2018 when the permanent school is 
intended to become operational. Once the permanent school becomes operational 
it is intended to remove the mobile buildings from the site. 

6.18 It is considered that the layout and appearance of the temporary school buildings, 
and other associated works – including car parking, drop off areas and perimeter 
fencing – are entirely appropriate for this urban location. There is an acceptable 
relationship between these temporary buildings and the new residential dwellings 
to the west (within Redrow’s Somerhill Green development), and the temporary 
nature of the buildings strikes both a sympathetic and pragmatic way to ensure 
that the school can become operational from September 2017 to meet the wider 
educational demand for Reception school places in South Tonbridge. 

6.19 The outline proposals submitted in respect of the permanent 2FE school indicate a 
two storey building of approximately 2,072 sq. metres to meet DfE design 
requirements. The building is indicatively positioned towards the western site 
boundary and roughly in the centre of the site (in terms of its north-south axis). 
Although consideration of the permanent school building is being given at outline 
stage only, the indicative layout plans demonstrate a minimum 26m separation 
distance from the western flank elevation of the new school building and the 
eastern flank elevations of recently constructed properties within the Redrow 
Somerhill Green development to the west. I am therefore satisfied that a two 
storey school building, to cater for the minimum size required for a 2FE school 
could, in principle, be sited so as to ensure an acceptable relationship with 
surrounding residential property.    

Page 24



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

6.20 Quite clearly, the precise architectural detailing of the school building, including 
overall height and massing, window locations and façade treatment will all be 
matters of Appearance that would be considered at the Reserved Matters stage. I 
am nonetheless satisfied that an acceptable palette of materials can be utilised to 
secure a high quality and complimentary form of development which responds 
positively to the surrounding urban form and land uses, including the under-
construction homes within the Redrow site. 

6.21 It is appropriate at this juncture to consider the relationship of the proposed 
temporary and permanent developments with the High Weald AONB designation, 
which lies just south of Tudeley Lane and Five Oak Green Road. The NPPF (at 
paragraph 115) states that great weight should be given to conserving landscape 
beauty and scenic beauty in AONBs which have the highest status of protection in 
these respects. Moreover, under Section 85 of the Countryside and Rights of Way 
Act 2000 there is a duty on an LPA when exercising or performing any functions in 
relation to, or so as to affect land in an AONB, to have regard to the purpose of 
conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of the AONB.

6.22 The application site boundary lies approximately 30m to the north of the AONB 
designation, with the temporary school buildings approximately 50m to the north 
and the indicative location of the permanent school accommodation some 100m 
north of this designation. I am quite satisfied that the temporary and indeed 
permanent school building would be viewed from the surrounding AONB land to 
the south in the context and against the urban backdrop of Tonbridge – taking into 
account the currently under construction housing development at Somerhill Green, 
the surrounding Porsche and Mini car dealership garages and the Somerhill 
Business Park development. 

6.23 Crucially, in this context I am mindful that the site benefits from an extant 
permission for commercial warehousing – totalling some 3,820 sq. metres of 
floorspace with a maximum height of buildings of 13m. The proposed school 
building would be significantly smaller in floorspace terms (at approximately 2,072 
sq. metres as per indicative DfE guidelines) and the overall height of a two storey 
building would, arguably, be significantly lower than the maximum permitted 13m 
ridge height of extant commercial buildings.  

6.24 I am satisfied that subject to appropriate design, layout and landscaping of the 
permanent school development – all of which will be considered at the subsequent 
Reserved Matters stage – that the proposals would not result in an unacceptable 
or harmful relationship with the High Weald AONB designation just south of 
Tudeley Lane and Five Oak Green Road. 

6.25 In conclusion, I consider that the temporary school development represents an 
acceptable, albeit short-term solution to deliver an initial 2FE primary school, and 
that the site is capable in principle of accommodating a permanent 2FE school in a 
manner which would not result in an unacceptable relationship with surrounding 

Page 25



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

residential and commercial developments, and in the context of the AONB 
designation. I am mindful, of course, that the design of the permanent 2FE school 
is subject to detailed considerations of appearance, layout and landscaping as part 
of a subsequent Reserved Matters application. 

Accessibility, highway and parking considerations:

6.26 Firstly, it is important to note that the proposed 2FE primary school is located 
within the pupil catchment area of South Tonbridge that it is intended to serve. I 
have already given consideration to the applicant’s site selection process to find a 
suitable site within paragraphs 6.5 – 6.9 above and concluded that that process 
has been sufficiently robust to ensure that there are no other available or 
preferable locations for this school development within the intended pupil 
catchment area. I am also mindful that the site is well located to the urban confines 
of Tonbridge, being located just south of a development of some 180 new homes 
and close to the main residential wards of Medway, Vauxhall and Judd which 
broadly match those of the “TN9” South Tonbridge postcode area which would 
predominantly be the principle catchment area for the new school. 

6.27 Members will note that some concerns have been expressed about the need to 
ensure that suitable footpath links are developed and/or upgraded to ensure that 
the proposed school integrates successfully into the surrounding urban area. I 
entirely agree that it is important to ensure a suitable network of public footpath 
opportunities are available to school users which will, in turn, seek to reduce 
overall car journey dependence. In this respect, I can advise Members that as part 
of the development of the Priory Works site (which included the currently under 
construction Redrow housing and the extant commercial buildings) contributions 
were secured as part of a Section 106 Agreement for the upgrading of surrounding 
local footpaths. Specifically, I can advise that a highway works contribution of just 
over £35,000 was secured to make improvements to footpath MU39 (between 
Lodge Oak Lane and the main site entrance off Tudeley Lane) by way or 
resurfacing, street lighting, removal of old fences and the cutting back of 
vegetation. This obligation has now been met by the developer, with the relevant 
improvement works now under consideration by the Highway Authority (KCC). 

6.28 I am satisfied that the previously secured footpath upgrading works will provide an 
appropriate degree of pedestrian connectivity for the new school, ensuring its 
successful integration into the surrounding residential area. Crucially, I can advise 
that it would not be appropriate to secure additional funding for further footpath 
improvements as part of this application since such footpath improvements would 
not be necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, and 
would not be fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind when having regard to 
the statutory tests set out in the CIL Regulations 2010 and paragraph 204 of the 
NPPF. 

Page 26



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

6.29 Turning to highway safety matters I am mindful that the NPPF makes it very clear 
(at paragraph 32) that development should only be prevented or refused on 
transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are 
severe [my emphasis added]. It is important to note that the site befits from an 
extant permission for commercial development comprising of employment B1 
(office) and/or B8 (storage distribution/warehouse) buildings totalling a minimum 
footprint area of 3,820 sq. metres which, inevitably, would result in traffic 
generation attributed to that use. The presence of an existing lawful use at a site is 
well established in planning terms as being the appropriate datum against which to 
assess any new planning proposals. 

6.30 In this case I am mindful that KCC (H+T) has confirmed it has no objections to the 
proposals, based on further information provided by the applicant to substantiate 
its anticipated take-up of before and after school clubs/activities and in respect of 
the level of on-site parking which can be accommodated as part of the permanent  
2FEschool development. The applicant has also provided confirmation that all car 
parking areas will be managed by school staff, that a school travel plan will be 
produced and continuously reviewed/monitored (in accordance with the KCC 
‘Jambusters’ tool) and that traffic management measures would be introduced 
(subject to a TRO) outside the school and at the approach to the Woodgate Way 
roundabout. On this basis I am confident that the temporary and permanent 2FE 
school proposals will not result in a severe cumulative transport impact when 
considered against the lawful commercial site use. 

6.31 In respect of on-site parking provisions, it is considered that staff and visitor car 
parking arrangements for the temporary school are appropriate. Whilst the 
development of the permanent school is submitted in outline form at this stage, it 
is nevertheless considered appropriate to set the level of on-site parking that 
would be expected at the reserved matters stage. In this context, discussions 
between the applicant and Highway Authority have established that the site is 
capable of accommodating a minimum of 74 parking spaces – comprising 60 
spaces within the main car park, 4 spaces associated with a pupil drop-off and 
pick up area and 10 overflow spaces. It is therefore quite appropriate to set this 
minimum level of on-site parking within a planning condition [condition 13] such 
that it forms part of the detailed parking and layout designs for the permanent 
school development.  

6.32 Quite clearly, the precise details of the on-site parking arrangements will have to 
be fully worked-up into a formal layout plan and subsequent site management plan 
(including School Travel Plan) as part of any subsequent reserved matters 
application. Nevertheless, I am satisfied that condition (13) seeks to strike an 
appropriate level of assurance that on-site parking provisions would be acceptable 
for the permanent 2FE school.

Page 27



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

6.33 I can also advise that the proposals do not raise any wider safety or capacity 
transport concerns for the strategic road network, a position that has been 
confirmed by the advice received from Highways England. 

Flooding and drainage considerations:

6.34 The application site lies within Flood Zones 2 and in parts within Zone 3a. The aim 
of national flood risk policy, as set out in the NPPF and the accompanying 
Technical Guidance, seeks to avoid inappropriate development in areas at risk of 
flooding by directing development away from areas at highest risk, but where 
development is necessary, making it safe without increasing flood risk elsewhere. 
The overall aim is to steer new development to Flood Zone 1. Where there are no 
reasonably available sites in Flood Zone 1, LPAs determining planning 
applications for development at any particular location should take into account the 
flood risk vulnerability of land uses and consider reasonably available sites in 
Flood Zone 2, applying the Exception Test if required. Only where there are no 
reasonably available sites in Flood Zones 1 or 2 should the suitability of sites in 
Flood Zone 3 be considered, taking into account the flood risk vulnerability of land 
uses and applying the Exception Test.

6.35 In this instance, I have already outlined the applicant’s sequential site selection 
process above and concluded that it is sufficiently robust. Quite simply, it is 
accepted that there are no alternative sites suitable for the proposed Primary 
School within or near to the school catchment area. On this basis I must conclude 
that there are no reasonably available sequentially preferable sites for the new 
school located within Flood Zone 1. 

6.36 The proposed development of a school falls into the “more vulnerable” flood risk 
classification where development in Flood Zone 2 would be acceptable, but 
development in Zone 3a requires the Exception Test to be passed. Returning to 
sequential site assessment process undertaken by the applicant, I am satisfied 
that there are no reasonably available sites for the proposed primary school which 
would be entirely within Flood Zone 2. It therefore falls to determine whether the 
proposals for the development of this site, within Flood Zones 2 and 3a are 
acceptable in the context of the Exception Test. 

6.37 NPPF paragraph 102 states that “If, following the application of the sequential test, 
it is not possible, consistent with wider sustainability objectives, for the 
development to be located in zones with a lower probability of flooding, the 
Exception Test can be applied if appropriate. For the Exception test to be passed:

 it must be demonstrates that the development provides wider sustainability 
benefits to the community that outweigh the flood risk, informed by a Strategic 
Flood Risk Assessment where one has been prepared; and

 a site-specific flood risk assessment must demonstrate that the development 
will be safe for its lifetime taking account of the vulnerability of its users, 

Page 28



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

without increasing flood risk elsewhere, and, where possible, will reduce flood 
risk overall.”

6.38 The NPPF also makes it clear that both elements of the test will have to be passed 
for the development to be permitted. In this instance, the proposed new primary 
school will meet a well-evidenced and acute primary educational need for South 
Tonbridge. It would clearly deliver wider public sustainability benefits to the 
community which, in my view, outweigh the flood risk in this instance. On this 
basis, I am satisfied that the first part of the test is passed. 

6.39 The applicant has prepared a site specific flood risk assessment which has been 
reviewed by the EA. It has raised no objection to the proposals, noting that the 
applicant has been able to demonstrate that taking into account climate change 
allowances, the finished floor levels for both the temporary and permanent school 
buildings would be above the design flood level, therefore representing a low risk 
of internal flooding to the new buildings. This view is given on the basis of the 
stated finished floor levels (27.95m AOD for the permanent building and 27.93m 
AOD for the temporary building) being secured by planning condition.

6.40 In terms of the safety of the school over its lifetime, the EA has stated that the LPA 
should be satisfied that the school can manage safe evacuation, given that the site 
entrance occupies the most vulnerable area (i.e. lowest part) of the site. In this 
respect, the applicant has demonstrated that safe evacuation could be achieved 
by providing a map showing a safe egress route from the site, taking into account 
an extreme flood event (1:100 year + 70% cc) where the maximum depth of 
flooding is approximately 190mm. Taking into account this relatively low depth, the 
short distance it last for (before reaching higher ground), and this modelling being 
based on a ‘worst-case’ extreme event, I am satisfied that an acceptable means of 
access for the temporary and permanent school building can be considered safe in 
principle. Nevertheless, I will require a detailed scheme, including appropriate 
flood evacuation plans to be required by condition for both the temporary and 
permanent school developments (as per conditions 11 and 15 below). 

6.41 Discussions remain on-going with KCC (LLFA) regarding a suitable sustainable 
site drainage scheme, taking into consideration the flooding conditions of the site. 
The applicant has recently provided additional hydraulic modelling information and 
I will update Members on the outcome of those conclusions within a 
Supplementary Report. 

Ecology and trees:

6.42 The application is accompanied by an Ecological Appraisal, Reptile Survey and 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment. These reports conclude that the proposed 
development will not adversely affect statutory or non-statutory protected sites, 
however notes that the trees and semi-improved grassland along the eastern site 
boundary (in close proximity to the Somerhill Stream) provide suitable nesting 
habitat for breeding birds, for reptiles (slow worms) and foraging bats. The Reptile 

Page 29



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

Survey recorded slow worms within this eastern Somerhill Stream corridor and 
makes recommendations for translocation mitigation works within the application 
site as part of the proposals. 

6.43 In considering ecological impacts, I am mindful of the requirements for an 8m wide 
‘buffer zone’ along the eastern site boundary from the Somerhill Stream as 
requested by the EA. This would ensure that the development does not encroach 
on the watercourse or its ecological value; something that is consistent with the 
requirements of NPPF paragraphs 109 and 118 which recognise that the planning 
system should aim to conserve and enhance the natural and local environment by 
minimising impacts on biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity where 
possible. Moreover, I am also mindful that the translocation of protected species 
(in this case slow worms) would be subject to a licence which the applicant would 
need to obtain separately to the planning process from Natural England. 

6.44 The proposals do not include any tree removal within the application site, with the 
belts of tree screening along the eastern site boundary being afforded adequate 
protection during construction works. Moreover, the permanent school 
development will include site landscaping proposals, with the precise details being 
secured as part of the reserved matters.  

Conclusions:

6.45 In light of the above assessment, it is my conclusion that the proposed scheme 
would represent an acceptable form of development both in principle and detail 
when considering the various requirements of the NPPF and Development Plan. I 
have found there to be overriding material considerations which weigh heavily in 
favour of the grant of planning permission for this non-traditional employment use, 
and consider that both the temporary and permanent school accommodation 
would meet an acute educational need for this part of the Borough which would 
undoubtedly be of benefit to the wider community. I am also satisfied that the 
proposals represent an acceptable form of development within this flood risk area, 
subject to conditions setting minimum finished floor levels for both the temporary 
and permanent school buildings and the production of a detailed flood evacuation 
plan. 

6.46 Whilst Members will note that discussions are still on-going with KCC (LLFA) 
regarding an appropriate site sustainable drainage strategy, I am confident that an 
appropriate technical solution can be found. Subject to the conclusion of those 
discussions, and an appropriate update to Members within a Supplementary 
Report, I recommend that the proposal be strongly welcomed and planning 
permission be granted subject to those conditions set out below.

Page 30



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

7. Recommendation:

7.1 Grant Planning Permission in accordance with the following details: 
Topographical Survey  23905_T REV 0  dated 20.12.2016, Tree Plan  
P2679.4.001 Tree Constraints (North) dated 20.12.2016, Tree Plan  P2679.4.002 
Tree Constraints (South) dated 20.12.2016, Design and Access Statement    dated 
20.12.2016, Notice    dated 22.12.2016, Notice    dated 22.12.2016, Assessment  
LEVEL 2 FRA DECEMBER 2016  dated 20.12.2016, Noise Assessment  ADT 
2411  dated 20.12.2016, Assessment  SITE SEQUENTIAL ASSESSMENT  dated 
20.12.2016, Planning Statement  STATEMENT COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT  
dated 20.12.2016, Appraisal  ECOLOGICAL APPRAISAL  dated 20.12.2016, 
Report  REPTILE SURVEY REPORT  dated 20.12.2016, Assessment  GROUND 
INVESTIGATION P2679.5.0  dated 20.12.2016, Letter    dated 22.12.2016, Desk 
Study Assessment  GROUND CONTAMINTAITON P2679.3.0  dated 23.01.2017, 
Transport Statement   December 2016 dated 20.12.2016, Travel Plan   December 
2016 dated 20.12.2016, Tree Report  P2679.4.0 15 December 2016 dated 
20.12.2016, Location Plan  28261129-OPL-01-A  dated 20.12.2016, Site Plan  
28261129-OPL-02-A Existing Site Plan dated 20.12.2016, Proposed Floor Plans  
28261129-OPL-04-A General Arrangement dated 20.12.2016, Proposed 
Elevations  28261129-OPL-05-A Phase 1 Temp Works dated 20.12.2016, 
Proposed Elevations  28261129-OPL-06-A Phase 1 Temp Works dated 
20.12.2016, Flood Risk Assessment  5613/001/T01B Level 2 FRA dated 
09.02.2017, Other  TRANSPORT NOTE  dated 08.02.2017, Block Plan  
28261129-OPL-03 C Proposed Block Plan dated 23.02.2017, Site Plan  
28261129-OPL-07 C Proposed Site Plan dated 23.02.2017, Email    dated 
13.03.2017, Drainage Statement  MICRO DRAINAGE CALCULATIONS  dated 
13.03.2017, Drainage Layout  502 REV P2  dated 13.03.2017, Drainage Layout  
501 REV P2  dated 13.03.2017, Drainage Layout  500 REV P2  dated 13.03.2017, 
Drainage Layout  SKETCH 5613/001/RMB/140317 Flood Evacuation Details 
dated 15.03.2017, Transport Statement  N03-CC-ADDITIONAL INFORMATION  
dated 15.03.2017, subject to:

7.2 The following conditions and any others required by the LLFA (to be reported as a 
supplementary matter):

Conditions:

General Controls (covering all development):

1. The development hereby permitted in respect of the temporary school works (as 
detailed on drawing numbers 28261129-OPL-03 Revision C, 28261129-OPL-04 
Revision A, 28261129-OPL-05 Revision A and 28261129-OPL-06 Revision A) 
shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this 
permission. The development hereby permitted in respect of the permanent school 
works (as detailed on drawing number 28261129-OPL-07 Revision C) shall be 
begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission, or 

Page 31



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

before the expiration of two years from the date of approval of the of the reserved 
matters to be approved, whichever is the later. 

Reason: In pursuance of Sections 91 and 92(2) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990.

2. Approval of details of the Layout and Appearance of the development, Access to 
and within the site, the Landscaping of the site, and the Scale of the development 
in respect of the permanent school works (hereinafter called the "Reserved 
Matters") shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: No such approval has been given.

3. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following plans and 
documents: Topographical Survey  23905_T REV 0  dated 20.12.2016, Tree Plan  
P2679.4.001 Tree Constraints (North) dated 20.12.2016, Tree Plan  P2679.4.002 
Tree Constraints (South) dated 20.12.2016, Design and Access Statement    dated 
20.12.2016, Notice    dated 22.12.2016, Notice    dated 22.12.2016, Assessment  
LEVEL 2 FRA DECEMBER 2016  dated 20.12.2016, Noise Assessment  ADT 
2411  dated 20.12.2016, Assessment  SITE SEQUENTIAL ASSESSMENT  dated 
20.12.2016, Planning Statement  STATEMENT COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT  
dated 20.12.2016, Appraisal  ECOLOGICAL APPRAISAL  dated 20.12.2016, 
Report  REPTILE SURVEY REPORT  dated 20.12.2016, Assessment  GROUND 
INVESTIGATION P2679.5.0  dated 20.12.2016, Letter    dated 22.12.2016, Desk 
Study Assessment  GROUND CONTAMINTAITON P2679.3.0  dated 23.01.2017, 
Transport Statement   December 2016 dated 20.12.2016, Travel Plan   December 
2016 dated 20.12.2016, Tree Report  P2679.4.0 15 December 2016 dated 
20.12.2016, Location Plan  28261129-OPL-01-A  dated 20.12.2016, Site Plan  
28261129-OPL-02-A Existing Site Plan dated 20.12.2016, Proposed Floor Plans  
28261129-OPL-04-A General Arrangement dated 20.12.2016, Proposed 
Elevations  28261129-OPL-05-A Phase 1 Temp Works dated 20.12.2016, 
Proposed Elevations  28261129-OPL-06-A Phase 1 Temp Works dated 
20.12.2016, Flood Risk Assessment  5613/001/T01B Level 2 FRA dated 
09.02.2017, Other  TRANSPORT NOTE  dated 08.02.2017, Block Plan  
28261129-OPL-03 C Proposed Block Plan dated 23.02.2017, Site Plan  
28261129-OPL-07 C Proposed Site Plan dated 23.02.2017, Email    dated 
13.03.2017, Drainage Statement  MICRO DRAINAGE CALCULATIONS  dated 
13.03.2017, Drainage Layout  502 REV P2  dated 13.03.2017, Drainage Layout  
501 REV P2  dated 13.03.2017, Drainage Layout  500 REV P2  dated 13.03.2017, 
Drainage Layout  SKETCH 5613/001/RMB/140317 Flood Evacuation Details 
dated 15.03.2017, Transport Statement  N03-CC-ADDITIONAL INFORMATION  
dated 15.03.2017.

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 
plans and documents hereby approved. 

Page 32



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

4. The development shall be undertaken in strict accordance with the 
Recommendations for Mitigation and Enhancement (Chapter 6) as set out in the 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal prepared by Geosphere Environmental Ltd dated 
6 July 2016 and the Recommendations (Chapter 6) set out in the Reptile Survey 
Report prepared by Thomson Ecology dated October 2016.

Reason: In accordance with the requirements of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2012 and the Managing Development and the Environment DPD 
2010.

5. The existing trees and shrubs shown in the Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
(prepared by AGB Environmental reference P2679.4.0 and dated 15 December 
2016), other than any specifically shown to be removed, shall not be lopped, 
topped, felled, uprooted or wilfully destroyed without the prior written consent of 
the Local Planning Authority, and any planting removed with or without such 
consent shall be replaced within 12 months with suitable stock, adequately staked 
and tied and shall thereafter be maintained for a period of 10 years.

Reason: Pursuant to Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

6. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the tree 
protection measures (for Phase 1 and Phase 2 works) set out in the Arboricultural 
Impact Assessment prepared by AGB Environmental (Reference P2679.4.0 dated 
15 December 2016) so as to avoid damage to the existing trees, including their 
root systems as part of the landscaping scheme.  

Reason: Pursuant to Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

7. Prior to the installation of any external lighting serving either the temporary or 
permanent school developments, full details of the lighting for that phase shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority and the work shall be 
carried out in strict accordance with those details.

Reason: To ensure that the development does not harm the visual amenity of the 
locality.

8. If, during development work, contamination not previously identified is found to be 
present at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out until the developer has 
submitted a remediation strategy to the Local Planning Authority detailing how this 
unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with and obtained written approval from 
the Local Planning Authority. The remediation strategy shall be implemented as 
approved. 

Reason: In the interests of protection of the environment and harm to human 
health in accordance with paragraph 121 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2012. 

Page 33



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

Temporary School:

9. The temporary school buildings shall not be first occupied until the area shown on 
drawing 28261129-OPL-03 Revision C as staff and visitor parking and turning 
areas have been provided, surfaced and drained. Thereafter it shall be kept 
available for such use and no permanent development, whether or not permitted 
by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 
(or any Order amending, revoking and re-enacting that Order), shall be carried out 
on the land so shown or in such a position as to preclude vehicular access to this 
reserved parking and turning area.

Reason: Development without the provision of adequate turning and parking 
facilities is likely to give rise to hazardous conditions in the public highway.  

10. The temporary school buildings (as shown on drawing 28261129-OPL-03 Revision 
C) shall be constructed at a Finished Floor Level of no lower than 27.93m AOD.

Reason: To reduce the risk and impact of flooding on the proposed development 
and future school occupants, in accordance with Policy CP10 of the Core Strategy 
2007 and paragraphs 100-104 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2012

11. Within 1 month of the first occupation of the temporary school buildings, details of 
a Flood Evacuation Plan including means of safe access and egress to/from the 
site shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
Thereafter, the Flood Evacuation Plan shall be implemented as approved at all 
times for the life of the temporary school buildings hereby permitted.

Reason: To reduce the risk and impact of flooding on the proposed development 
and future school occupants, in accordance with Policy CP10 of the Core Strategy 
2007 and paragraphs 100-104 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2012. 

12. The temporary school buildings (as shown on drawing 28261129-OPL-03 Revision 
C) shall be removed from the site within 2 months of the opening of the permanent 
school accommodation.

Reason: To ensure that the development does not harm the visual amenity of the 
locality and compromise the layout and parking arrangements for the permanent 
school development. 

Permanent School:

13. The permanent school buildings shall not be first occupied until details of car 
parking (in accordance with Access details to be provided as part of Condition 2) 
for a minimum of 60 spaces plus a minimum of 10 overflow spaces and a drop-off 
area to accommodate a minimum of 4 spaces has been provided, surfaced and 
drained in accordance with a layout and management plan which has first been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, 

Page 34



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

the approved parking and turning areas shall be kept available for such use and 
be managed in accordance with the approved management plan, and no 
permanent development, whether or not permitted by the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order amending, 
revoking and re-enacting that Order), shall be carried out on the land so shown or 
in such a position as to preclude vehicular access to this reserved parking and 
turning area.

Reason: Development without the provision of adequate turning and parking 
facilities is likely to give rise to hazardous conditions in the public highway.  

14. The permanent school buildings shall be constructed at a Finished Floor Level of 
no lower than 27.95m AOD.

Reason: To reduce the risk and impact of flooding on the proposed development 
and future school occupants, in accordance with Policy CP10 of the Core Strategy 
2007 and paragraphs 100-104 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2012. 

15. Prior to the first occupation of the permanent school buildings, details of a Flood 
Evacuation Plan including means of safe access and egress to/from the site shall 
be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the 
Flood Evacuation Plan shall be implemented as approved at all times for the life of 
the permanent school development hereby permitted.

Reason: To reduce the risk and impact of flooding on the proposed development 
and future school occupants, in accordance with Policy CP10 of the Core Strategy 
2007 and paragraphs 100-104 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2012. 

16. Within 3 months of the commencement of development of the permanent school 
buildings, a scheme for the provision and management of an 8 metre wide buffer 
zone alongside the Somerhill Stream shall be submitted to and agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include:

(a) plans showing the extent and layout of the buffer zone;

(b) details of any proposed planting scheme (for example, native species);

(c) details demonstrating how the buffer zone will be managed/maintained over the 
longer term including a detailed management plan; and

(d) details of any proposed footpaths, fencing, lighting or other impacts within the 
buffer zone.

Thereafter the approved buffer zone scheme shall be implemented as approved 
prior to the first occupation of the permanent school buildings.

Page 35



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

Reason: To protect the ecological value of the Somerhill Stream river corridor, in 
accordance with the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework 
2012. 

17. Within 3 months of the commencement of development of the permanent school 
buildings, a scheme to incorporate measures to minimise the risk of crime, 
according to the principles and physical security requirements of Crime Prevention 
through Environmental Design (CPTED), shall be submitted to and agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved measures shall be 
implemented before the permanent school is occupied and thereafter retained. 

Reason: In the interests of security, crime prevention and community safety. 

Informatives:

1. With regard to the construction phase of the development, the applicant is asked to 
take all reasonable steps to mitigate any impact upon surrounding residents. With 
this in mind, they are strongly encouraged to apply for a Section 61 Control of 
Pollution Act 1974 ‘prior consent’ notice to regulate working hours/methods. It is 
recommended that you contact the Environmental Protection Team on 
pollution.control@tmbc.gov.uk in advance of the commencement of works to discuss 
this further. The applicant is also advised not to undertake construction works 
outside the hours of 08:00 – 18:00 Monday to Friday, 08:00 – 13:00 on Saturdays 
and to not undertake works on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays. Furthermore, 
arrangements for the management of demolition and construction traffic to and from 
the site should be carefully considered in the interests of residential amenities and 
highway safety.  

2. In respect of highway matters (as required as part of any subsequent Reserved 
Matters application) the applicant is expected to address the following – an initial 
School Travel Plan and a commitment for continuous review and monitoring via the 
KCC ‘Jambusters’ tool; swept path analysis for servicing; school parking and drop off 
arrangements; details of traffic management measures for outside the school and at 
the approach to Woodgate Way including a timescale for a TRO; details of cycle 
parking provisions; and details of the management of all car parking areas by school 
staff.  

3. The applicant/developer should enter into a formal agreement with Southern Water 
to provide the necessary sewerage infrastructure required to service this 
development. The applicant/developer should contact Southern Water, 
Sparrowgrove House, Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, Hampshire, SO21 2SW (Tel: 
0330 303 0119) or www.southernwater.co.uk in order to progress the required 
infrastructure.  

4. Prior to the submission of any Reserve Matters application, the applicant is 
encouraged to undertake discussions with Kent Police Crime Prevention Design 
Advisors to ensure that a comprehensive approach is taken to Crime Prevention and 
Community Safety. The relevant contact details are John Grant and Adrian Fromm, 
Kent Police Headquarters, Sutton Road, Maidstone, ME15 9BZ (Tel: 01622 653209) 

Page 36

mailto:pollution.control@tmbc.gov.uk
http://www.southernwater.co.uk/


Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

or pandcr@kent.pnn.police.uk 

Contact: Julian Moat

Page 37

mailto:pandcr@kent.pnn.police.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

TM/16/03716/FL

Former Priory Works Tudeley Lane Tonbridge Kent TN11 0QL 

A hybrid planning application comprising 1) application for outline planning permission 
for a permanent primary school including means of access from Tudeley Lane (all other 
matters reserved) 2) application for full planning permission for the installation of 1no 
temporary building to provide 2 form entry primary school, 1no administration block, 
hard standing including car parking, drop off / pick up, and erection of boundary fence

For reference purposes only.  No further copies may be made.  Crown copyright.  All rights reserved.  Tonbridge and Malling 
Borough Council Licence No. 100023300 2015.

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

Tonbridge
Judd

18 January 2017 TM/17/00139/FL

Proposal: Proposed two storey side extension with integral garage, 
canopy porch and internal alterations. Re-submission of 
TM/16/03008/FL

Location: 49 Brindles Field Tonbridge Kent TN9 2YR   
Applicant: Mr Mitch Walker
Go to: Recommendation

1. Description:

1.1 Planning permission is sought for the demolition of an existing garage and the 
construction of a two storey side extension, with the first floor accommodation 
located within the roof space, which incorporates a front dormer and two roof lights 
in the rear roof slope.

1.2 The proposed extension will incorporate a replacement garage and dining room at 
ground floor level and a bedroom with en-suite at first floor level.

1.3 The proposals also re-position the main access into the front elevation of the 
property and include an open porch canopy.

1.4 The proposed extension is set back from the front façade of the host dwelling by 
approximately 1.9m. It would bring the built form closer to the common boundary 
line with the neighbouring properties in West Rise, but would retain a distance of 
approximately 1m at the closest point.

1.5 Materials are proposed to be brick work at ground floor level with black painted 
timber cladding above and a tiled roof above.

1.6 One garage parking space and 2 off-street parking spaces to the front of the 
garage are shown to be provided. 

1.7 This application seeks to overcome the recent refusal of planning permission 
under reference TM/16/03008/FL. Planning permission was refused for the 
following reason:

“The proposed two storey side extension, by virtue of its size, bulk and proximity to 
the northern boundary when combined with the constrained nature of the plot and 
limited size of the neighbouring gardens, would result in a dominant and 
overbearing form of development which would in turn be harmful to the residential 
amenities of the occupiers of 10 and 12 West Rise, Tonbridge. The proposed 
development is therefore contrary to Policy CP24 of the Tonbridge and Malling 
Core Strategy 2007, Policy SQ1 of the Managing Development and the 
Environment Development Plan Document 2010 and the core principles of the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2012 (paragraphs 17, 58 and 64).”

Page 41

Agenda Item 6



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

1.8 The previous refusal of planning permission forms an important material 
consideration in the determination of this current application. The previous 
grounds of refusal must therefore be successfully overcome through the amended 
scheme, whilst creating no new issues or harm, in order for planning permission to 
be granted. Whilst the amended scheme shows the same overall footprint, the 
overall height and associated bulk of the extension have been substantially 
reduced, with the ridge height being reduced by approximately 1m, and the front 
eaves being reduced by approximately 2m overall. This decrease in bulk has been 
achieved by the inclusion of a dormer window within the front facing roof slope. 

1.9 Additionally, where it was previously proposed to create a gable-end to the main 
house, the barn hip is now shown to be retained. 

2. Reason for reporting to Committee:

2.1 At the request of Councillor Bolt, in order for consideration to be given to the 
impact of the proposed development on neighbouring properties.

3. The Site:

3.1 The application site contains a semi-detached brick and black timber clad property 
within the built settlement confines of Tonbridge.  Brindles Field has an elevated 
position and the area is relatively densely populated with properties having modest 
private garden spaces.

3.2 The application property is set back from the main road in a small cul-de-sac 
which serves four residential dwellings.

3.3 The neighbouring half of the semi-detached pair is constructed with the same 
materials as the application property and has a canopy porch in the front elevation, 
similar in size and design to that being considered within this application.

4. Planning History (relevant):

 
TM/16/03008/FL Refuse 19 December 2016

Proposed two storey side extension with integral garage, canopy porch, and 
internal alterations

 

5. Consultees:

5.1 Private Reps:  15/0X/3R/0S:  3 letters of objection received on the following 
grounds:

 Dominant, overbearing and feeling of enclosure;

 Area already over-developed;

Page 42



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

 Significant increase in size and width of garage;

 The existing dwelling impacts on the enjoyment of properties in West Rise and 
occupants’ quality of life;

 The slight amendment to the roof design does little to reduce the overall size of 
the extension and still brings the property closer to the boundary with West 
Rise;

 Detrimental impact on sunlight into small gardens of West Rise;

 The proposed black cladding would further impact feeling of enclosure;

 The proposed ground floor windows and doors in the flank elevation will be 
intrusive.

6. Determining Issues:

Principle of development:

6.1 The site is located within the built settlement confines of Tonbridge where the 
principle of development of this nature is acceptable. The proposed extension is 
considered to be relatively modest in size and, due to the location of the site within 
the confines of the settlement, there is no upper limit to the extent to which a 
property may be extended, in principle.  The extension, given the position and size 
of the extension and the nature and size of the plot, would not amount to an 
overdevelopment of the site.  

6.2 It should be noted that matters of general principle and the ability of the site to 
accommodate a development of this nature did not form part of the previous 
reason for refusal. 

Character, appearance and design:

6.3 With the principle of the proposed development having been established, it is 
necessary to ensure that the proposal would not harm the appearance of the 
street scene or the individual dwelling and that the development is appropriate for 
the site and its surroundings. In this respect, Saved Policy P4/12 of the TMBLP 
requires residential extensions to not have an adverse impact on “the character of 
the building or the street scene in terms of form, scale, design, materials and 
existing trees; nor the residential amenity of neighbouring properties in terms of 
light and privacy, and overlooking of garden areas.”  Policy P4/12 also has an 
Annex (PA4/12) which sets out further design guidance and amenity tests.

6.4 Policy CP24 of the TMBCS relates to achieving a high quality environment and 
paragraphs 57 and 58 of the NPPF set out similar requirements.

Page 43



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

6.5 The Tonbridge Character Area SPD refers to the Brindles Field area as a 1990s 
development on the southern edge of the urban area just inside the Tonbridge By-
pass, with properties occupying an elevated position with the elevations of the 
properties having a variety of finishes including red brick, white or black 
weatherboarding, decorative clay hung tiles or yellow brick with red brick details 
and sills.

6.6 The proposed extension and new porch canopy have been designed so that they 
reflect the existing key features of the original dwellinghouse, such as the 
fenestration detailing and materials to be utilised.  The proposed two storey side 
extension is set back from the front façade of the host dwelling and incorporates a 
low eaves height with the first floor rooms being sited within the roof space.  This 
allows for the ridge of the roof to be some 1.7m lower than the main dwelling.  This 
gives the extension a subservient appearance, which is appropriate in visual 
terms.  

6.7 The proposed front canopy and re-sited front door have been designed to reflect 
the proportions of the main dwelling and adjoining property, and to follow the 
design of the proposed front dormer.  The new access door and open porch are 
considered to be appropriate in visual terms.

6.8 Again, it should be noted that the changes to the appearance of the dwelling 
arising from a side extension here did not form part of the previous reason for 
refusal. The changes to that scheme in an attempt to overcome the previous 
reason for refusal have given rise to a different appearance to that previously 
considered, through the inclusion of a front dormer window and retention of the 
barn hip to the main dwelling, but these features do not cause any visual harm and 
the proposal is therefore acceptable in these respects. 

Residential amenity:

6.9 As explained in Section 1 of this report, the previous scheme was refused on the 
grounds that the overall size and bulk of the proposed extension, when combined 
with the proximity to the boundary shared with properties in West Rise, would 
cause a dominant and overbearing form of development, harmful to the amenities 
of the neighbouring properties. The scheme has been amended to significantly 
reduce the height and associated bulk of the extension meaning that it would be 
far more subservient to the main house when viewed from the neighbouring 
properties in West Rise. The extension would not have a dominant or overbearing 
impact on these neighbours as a result of these changes as it would effectively be 
seen against the backdrop of the larger main house.  

6.10 I acknowledge concern raised by local residents that the combination of brickwork 
and black cladding on the proposed flank elevation would add further to the feeling 
of oppressiveness and enclosure. Given the above conclusions, I do not consider 
that the proposed materials would cause a detrimental impact in this way.  

Page 44



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

6.11 Residents remain concerned that the proposed extension would adversely affect 
their levels of privacy. The proposed extension includes a front facing dormer 
window to serve the en-suite bathroom, with two roof lights to be installed within 
the rear facing roof slope. The dormer window would look towards the driveway 
serving the dwelling, and the roof lights would face towards the private garden 
area of this dwelling. Notwithstanding this, they would be at 1.8m above floor level 
which is above the level of 1.7m normally accepted as ensuring acceptable levels 
of privacy. No flank windows are proposed at first floor level.  

6.12 The proposed front porch canopy is open in nature and it is not considered that it 
will have a detrimental impact on the residential amenities of the adjoining 
residents.

Highway safety and parking provision:

6.13 The proposals include two off-street parking spaces to the front of the property and 
also a garage space.  This parking provision is considered to be in accordance 
with the requirements of IGN 3. 

Conclusions:

6.14 In light of the above assessment, I consider that the proposed extension is 
acceptable in terms of the requirements of the adopted development plan and 
requirements of the NPPF with the previous reason for refusal having been 
successfully overcome. As such, the following recommendation is put forward:   

7. Recommendation:

7.1 Grant planning permission in accordance with the following submitted details: 
Block Plan  T1616/BP2  dated 03.03.2017, Letter  dated 18.02.2017, Existing 
Floor Plans  T1616/02  dated 18.01.2017, Location Plan  T1616/LP1  dated 
18.01.2017, Existing Floor Plans  T1616/01  dated 18.01.2017, Existing Roof Plan  
T1616/03  dated 18.01.2017, Existing Elevations  T1616/04  dated 18.01.2017, 
Existing Elevations  T1616/05  dated 18.01.2017, Existing Elevations  T1616/06  
dated 18.01.2017, Existing Elevations  T1616/07  dated 18.01.2017, Proposed 
Floor Plans  T1616/08  dated 18.01.2017, Proposed Floor Plans  T1616/09  dated 
18.01.2017, Proposed Roof Plan  T1616/10  dated 18.01.2017, Proposed 
Elevations  T1616/14  dated 18.01.2017, Proposed Elevations  T1616/11  dated 
18.01.2017, Proposed Elevations  T1616/12  dated 18.01.2017, Proposed 
Elevations  T1616/13  dated 18.01.2017 subject to the following conditions:

 Conditions:

 1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission.

Page 45



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

Reason:  In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

 2. All materials used externally shall match those of the existing building.

Reason:  To ensure that the development does not harm the character and 
appearance of the existing building or visual amenity of the locality.

 3. The use shall not be commenced, nor the premises occupied, until the area 
shown on the submitted layout as vehicle parking space has been provided, 
surfaced and drained.  Thereafter it shall be kept available for such use and no 
permanent development, whether or not permitted by the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order amending, 
revoking or re-enacting that Order) shall be carried out on the land so shown or 
in such a position as to preclude vehicular access to this reserved parking space.

Reason:  Development without provision of adequate accommodation for the 
parking of vehicles is likely to lead to hazardous on-street parking.

Informatives

 1. This permission does not purport to convey any legal right to undertake works or 
development on land outside the ownership of the applicant without the consent 
of the relevant landowners.

 2. If the development hereby permitted involves the carrying out of building work or 
excavations along or close to a boundary with land owned by someone else, you 
are advised that, under the Party Wall, etc Act 1996, you may have a duty to give 
notice of your intentions to the adjoining owner before commencing this work.

Contact: Vicky Bedford

Page 46



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 30 March 2017

TM/17/00139/FL

49 Brindles Field Tonbridge Kent TN9 2YR  

Proposed two storey side extension with integral garage, canopy porch and internal 
alterations. Re-submission of TM/16/03008/FL

For reference purposes only.  No further copies may be made.  Crown copyright.  All rights reserved.  Tonbridge and Malling 
Borough Council Licence No. 100023300 2015.

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Development Control
	5 TM/16/03716/FL - Former Priory Works, Tudeley Lane, Tonbridge
	Map

	6 TM/17/00139/FL - 49 Brindles Field, Tonbridge
	Map


